OA 8-31.54

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 83,015

FILED

SID J. WHITE

JUN 2 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Glark

DONALD S. ZUCKERMAN, P.A., and DONALD S. ZUCKERMAN, individually,

Petitioners,

v.

HOFRICHTER & QUIAT, P.A., ALEX HOFRICHTER, P.A., and ALEX HOFRICHTER, individually,

Respondents.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

PAUL C. HUCK, ESQ. 2850 First Union Fin. Center 200 South Biscayne Boulevard Miami, FL 33131 Telephone: (305) 372-1800

COOPER & WOLFE, P.A. 700 Courthouse Tower 44 West Flagler Street Miami, FL 33130 Telephone: (305) 371-1597

INTRODUCTION

Petitioners DONALD S. ZUCKERMAN, P.A. and DONALD S. ZUCKERMAN will be referred to as they stand in this Court, as they stood in the trial court and as Zuckerman. Respondents HOFRICHTER & QUIAT, P.A., ALEX HOFRICHTER, P.A., and ALEX HOFRICHTER will be referred to and they stand in this Court, as they stood in the trial court and as Hofrichter.

"R" refers to the record on appeal; "SR" refers to the supplemental record attached to Zuckerman's motion to supplement; "T" refers to the transcript of the hearing on the motion to dissolve the writ of garnishment. Emphasis is supplied by counsel unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Third District held here that settlement of an insured's suit against his insurer for disability insurance benefits altered the nature of the benefits and meant they were no longer exempt from garnishment under Fla.Stat. § 222.18. Donald S. Zuckerman, P.A. v. Hofrichter & Quiat, P.A., 629 So.2d 218 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993). In these proceedings, this Court will determine whether the form of payment - monthly disability benefit payments or lump sum settlement - affects the exempt nature of the payments under this statute.

Zuckerman had a disability insurance policy with Provident Life and Accident Co. (SR. 5). Provident had made disability payments to Zuckerman pursuant to the policy for some time. (T. 47-48; SR. 18). When Provident later terminated those payments and denied Zuckerman's disability claim, Zuckerman sued Provident for payment under the policy and for bad faith. (T. 51-52; SR. 1-4). That action was eventually settled when Provident paid Zuckerman a lump sum of \$75,000 in exchange for a general release and surrender of the policy. (T. 29-30, 37, 42).

The bad faith claim was severed and stayed pending resolution of the breach of contract claim. (SR. 35). Provident acknowledged it had made monthly disability payments under its policy, but denied any further obligation to pay Zuckerman. (SR. 18).

The settlement included Zuckerman's right to future disability benefits. (T. 61). At the hearing on the motion to dissolve the writ of garnishment, Zuckerman proffered, but the court rejected, evidence that the amount of disability benefits to which he would have been entitled was approximately \$125,000. (T. 37-38). At the time of the hearing, Provident's counsel had not yet (continued...)

In the meantime, Hofrichter obtained a judgment against Zuckerman in an unrelated case. <u>Donald S. Zuckerman, P.A. v. Hofrichter & Ouiat, P.A.</u>, 629 So.2d 217 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993). To collect on that judgment, Hofrichter filed a writ of garnishment against the funds from the disability case which were still in Provident's hands. (R. 4411).

Zuckerman moved to dissolve the writ of garnishment. He argued that these proceeds were exempt from garnishment under Fla.Stat. § 222.18 because they were disability payments under his policy with Provident. (R. 4427). The trial court held an evidentiary hearing. Despite its belief that this was a close question and there was no law on point (T. 95, 134, 142), the court denied the motion. It awarded \$44,209.50 of the disability settlement to Hofrichter.^{3/} (R. 4565-71). The court concluded that the benefits paid in settlement of Zuckerman's claim against Provident "are not 'disability' benefits within the meaning of F.S. § 222.18." (R. 4566, 4570).

The Third District affirmed. <u>Donald S. Zuckerman, P.A.</u>, 629 So.2d 218. It reasoned that those funds were paid pursuant to the settlement agreement, <u>not</u> the disability insurance policy. <u>Id.</u> Therefore, the court held that proceeds of a settlement in an

^{2/}(...continued)
received the release from Zuckerman and so he still held the settlement check. (T. 17, 54, 64-66). Since that time, the funds
have been paid to Hofrichter pursuant to the Third District's
decision.

The remainder of the settlement was awarded to Zuckerman's attorneys for legal services rendered in the disability action.

action to obtain payment under a disability insurance policy were not "disability income benefits" exempt from garnishment under § 222.18.

This Court accepted jurisdiction under Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Third District held that funds paid pursuant to settlement of a lawsuit for disability insurance benefits were not "disability income benefits" exempt from garnishment under Fla.Stat. § 222.18. The court reasoned that those benefits were paid pursuant to the settlement agreement, not a disability insurance policy.

The Third District's decision is contrary to the plain language of the exemption statute. Section 222.18 unambiguously exempts from legal process all disability income benefits, "of whatever form" due a debtor under any disability policy. The statute could not be more broadly worded or inclusive.

The court's decision also contravenes the policy behind the exemption statute to prevent debtors and their families from being deprived of the necessities of life and becoming public charges. The implication of the Third District's holding is that only disability benefits paid pursuant to uncontested claims are exempt from garnishment. If the carrier contests the claim, and the insured is forced to litigate the claim, any funds received whether by settlement or judgment are subject to garnishment by creditors. That places an unfair burden on insureds whose disability carriers dispute their claims and contravenes the policy of protecting debtors and their families from becoming destitute and public charges.

The settlement in this case requires payment of disability benefits to Zuckerman because the original insurance policy so required. The settlement merely changed the method of payment. Those funds were disability benefits as surely as if they had been paid when Zuckerman first made his claim. The character and purpose of the payments never changed, and neither should their exempt status. This Court should quash the Third District's decision.

ARGUMENT

DISABILITY INCOME BENEFITS DUE UNDER A DISABILITY INSURANCE POLICY DO NOT LOSE THEIR § 222.18 EXEMPTION BECAUSE THEY ARE MADE IN A LUMP SUM PURSUANT TO A SETTLEMENT OF LITIGATION BROUGHT TO ENFORCE THAT DISABILITY INSURANCE POLICY.

The Third District held that funds paid pursuant to settlement of a lawsuit for disability insurance benefits were not "disability income benefits" exempt from garnishment under Fla.Stat. § 222.18.4 Donald S. Zuckerman, P.A. v. Hofrichter & Quiat, P.A., 629 So.2d 218 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993). The court reasoned that the settlement agreement "extinguished Zuckerman's claim under the disability policy" and therefore those funds were paid "pursuant to the agreement of settlement and compromise, not the disability insurance policy." Id.

The Third District's decision is contrary to the plain language of the exemption statute. Section 222.18 unambiguously exempts from legal process all disability income benefits, "of whatever form" due a debtor under any disability policy. The statute could not be more broadly worded or inclusive. See In reMcCollam, 612 So.2d 572 (Fla. 1993) (virtually identical language

Disability income benefits under any policy or contract of life, health, accident, or other insurance of whatever form, shall not in any case be liable to attachment, garnishment, or legal process in the state, in favor of any creditor or creditors of the recipient of such disability income benefits, unless such policy or contract of insurance was effected for the benefit of such creditor or creditors.

^{4/} Section 222.18 provides:

in §222.14 "clearly exempts <u>all</u> annuity contracts"). The court should not graft onto a statute any limitations the legislature has not mandated. <u>Chaffee v. Miami Transfer Co.</u>, 288 So.2d 209, 215 (Fla. 1974). Therefore, the fact that these disability benefits were paid in settlement of an insured's contested claim for these benefits should be irrelevant.

This Court has already established the same statutory construction that Zuckerman seeks to reaffirm here. In <u>Bank of Greenwood v. Rawls</u>, 117 Fla. 381, 158 So. 173 (1934), an insured received funds in settlement of a disability provision in his life insurance policy in return for surrender of that policy. The insured's creditors sought to garnish those funds. They argued that the funds were not statutorily exempt "cash surrender values" of a life insurance policy because they were in settlement of the disability provision of the policy.⁵/

This Court disagreed. It interpreted language in the earlier exemption statute which stated that the cash surrender value of life insurance policies "upon whatever form" shall not in "any" case be liable for garnishment. Id. at 174-75. This Court held that cash surrender value included funds obtained by a negotiated settlement in exchange for surrender of the policy. Id. at 175. The settlement did not change the exempt nature of the proceeds.

The statutory language interpreted in <u>Bank of Greenwood</u> is virtually identical to the relevant statutory language in this

Before the passage of § 222.18 in 1941, disability income benefits were not exempt from garnishment, but cash surrender values of life insurance policies were.

case. Section 222.18 states that benefits of a disability insurance policy "of whatever form, shall not in any case be liable" to garnishment. The statute at issue in <u>Bank of Greenwood</u>, 1925 Laws of Fla., ch. 10,154, stated that cash surrender value of life insurance policies "upon whatever form" shall not in "any" case be liable for garnishment. A side-by-side comparison demonstrates the high degree of similarity:

Section 1. That the cash values <u>surrender</u> of life insurance policies issued upon the lives of citizens orresidents of the State of Florida, upon whatever form, shall not in any case be liable to attachment, garnishment or legal process in favor of any creditor or creditors of the person whose life is so insured, unless the insurance policy was effected benefit the of such creditor or creditors. Ch. 710,154, Laws of Fla. (1925).

Section 1. Disability income benefits under any policy or contract ο£ life, health, accident or other insurance of whatever form, shall not any case be liable attachment, garnishment, or legal process in the State of Florida, in favor of any creditor or creditors of the recipient of such disability income benefits, unless such policy orcontract insurance was effected for the benefit of such creditor or creditors. Ch. 20741, Laws of Fla. (1941).

The language and grammatical structure of these two statutes is virtually identical. They should be construed in the same way. See also In re McCollam, 612 So.2d at 573-74 (applying same analysis to § 222.14 which provides that "'proceeds of annuity contracts issued to citizens or residents of the state, upon whatever form, shall not in any case be liable to attachment, garnishment or legal process in favor or any creditor'") (emphasis by the court). Thus here, as in Bank of Greenwood, the exempted policy benefits should include monies obtained in a negotiated settlement for payment under the policy.

The Third District's decision also contravenes the policy behind the exemption statute. Statutes should be construed to give effect to the policy behind their enactment. White v. Pepsico, 568 So.2d 886, 889 (Fla. 1990). Such garnishment exemptions are intended to prevent debtors and their families from being deprived of the necessities of life and from becoming public charges. Patten Package Co. v. Houser, 102 Fla. 603, 136 So. 353, 355 (1931). See also Elvin v. Public Finance Co., 196 So.2d 25 (Fla. 3d DCA 1967). For this reason, such exemptions should be liberally construed in favor of the debtor to accomplish the policy of preserving a living for the debtor and his family. Killian v. Lawson, 387 So.2d 960, 962 (Fla. 1980); Patten Package, 136 So. at 355.

Instead, the Third District strictly construed the exemption. The implication of the court's holding is that only disability benefits paid pursuant to uncontested claims are exempt from garnishment. If the carrier contests the claim, and the insured is forced to litigate it, creditors may garnish any proceeds received whether by settlement or judgment. Zuckerman did not choose to receive his disability benefits in the form of an early lump-sum payment/settlement of his claim. Indeed, Provident had made periodic disability payments to Zuckerman pursuant to the policy for some time. Provident, not Zuckerman, chose to discontinue those payments to which he was entitled. Zuckerman received his benefits in a lump sum only after he sued Provident and incurred substantial legal fees and expenses. The Third District's ruling

places an unfair burden on insureds whose disability carriers dispute their claims and contravenes the policy of protecting debtors and their families from becoming destitute and public charges.

Moreover, settlements and judgments do not exist in a vacuum. They must be construed with reference to the subject matter before the court at the time they were made. See Saucer v. Efstathion, 34 So.2d 435, 436 (Fla. 1948). Zuckerman's complaint against Provident set forth claims for breach of the disability insurance contract and related unfair claim settlement procedures under Fla.Stat. § 624.155.6/ (SR. 1-4). Thus, the subject matter before the court at the time of the settlement was Zuckerman's entitlement to disability benefits under the policy.

The settlement required payment of disability benefits to Zuckerman because the original insurance policy so required. The settlement merely changed the method of payment. Those funds were disability benefits as surely as if they had been paid when Zuckerman first made his claim. The character and purpose of the payments never changed, and neither should their exempt status.

The Third District relied on three cases in reaching its conclusion, none of which were pertinent: <u>J. Allen, Inc. v. Castle Floor Covering, Inc.</u>, 543 So.2d 249, 251 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989); <u>Brinker v. Ludlow</u>, 379 So.2d 999, 1002 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980), <u>ap-</u>

Fla.Stat. § 624.155 provides a cause of action to an insured against an insurer for first party bad faith. If successful, the insured is entitled under this section to damages, costs and reasonable attorney's fees. § 624.155(3). See generally McLeod v. Continental Ins. Co., 591 So.2d 621 (Fla. 1992).

proved, 403 So.2d 969 (Fla. 1981); Salling Wiping Cloth Co. v. Sewell, Inc., 419 So.2d 112, 116-17 (La.Ct.App. 1982). These cases merely state the general, and irrelevant, rule that a cause of action merges into a judgment or settlement obtained on that action.

In <u>J. Allen</u>, a conflict arose over whether a subcontractor's work was acceptable. The contractor and subcontractor settled this conflict by entering into an agreement that the contractor would pay the subcontractor for the labor and materials necessary to rework the job. The subcontractor redid the job according to the job specifications but the contractor refused to pay the subcontractor for the additional work. The subcontractor sued and the contractor counterclaimed that the subcontractor had initially performed the work in an unworkmanlike manner. The Second District rejected the contractor's counterclaim because any rights and duties the parties had at the time they entered into the settlement agreement were merged into that settlement agreement. 543 So.2d at 251.

The rule announced in <u>J. Allen</u> has no relevance here. It does not address the nature of funds received in settlement of a claim. Instead, the rule merely states the unremarkable proposition that a party who enters into a settlement of a disputed claim cannot later attempt to litigate that claim.^{7/} It does not

The other two cases the Third District cited applied the same rule in the context of a judgment on a disputed claim and are even less relevant here. Brinker v. Ludlow, 379 So.2d at 1002; Salling Wiping Cloth Co. v. Sewell, Inc., 419 So.2d at 116-17. Thus, the (continued...)

follow that funds paid pursuant to a settlement of a case to obtain benefits under a disability policy somehow lose their character as disability benefits. In fact, to the extent the Third District's decision can be seen as only applying to settlements, it contravenes the public policy that favors settlement of disputes without litigation. See Robbie v. City of Miami, 469 So.2d 1384 (Fla. 1985).

sum, the funds Hofrichter sought Τn to garnish disability benefits exempt under § 222.18. Section 222.18 unambiguously exempts from legal process all disability income benefits, "of whatever form," due a debtor under a disability policy. The settlement in this case merely changed the method of payment, not the character and purpose of the payments. The Third District's ruling places an unfair burden on insureds whose disability carriers dispute their claims. It also contravenes the policy of protecting debtors and their families from become destitute and the policy that favors settlement of disputes litigation. Thus, the Third District's contravenes both the plain language and the public policy behind that statute. This Court should quash that decision.

^{7/(...}continued)

Third District apparently did not distinguish between settlements and judgments in this context.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Petitioner Zuckerman respectfully requests this Court to quash the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal.