IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 83,015

FILED

SID I WHITE

JUL 21 1994

101 21 1794

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clark

DONALD S. ZUCKERMAN, P.A. and DONALD S. ZUCKERMAN, individually,

Petitioners,

vs.

HOFRICHTER & QUIAT, P.A., ALEX HOFRICHTER, P.A., and ALEX HOFRICHTER, individually,

Respondents.

## BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS ON THE MERITS

BERGER & CHAFETZ 9350 South Dixie Highway Suite 1500 Miami, Florida 33156 (305) 670-3404

-and-

ALEX HOFRICHTER, P.A. 9350 South Dixie Highway Suite 1500 Miami, Florida 33156 (305) 670-4888

Attorneys for Respondents

#

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

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Jurisdiction was improvidently granted in this cause based upon Zuckerman's inaccurate assertions which find no support in the record proper. No disability income benefits were due or payable. None were paid in connection with the settlement. The settlement between Zuckerman and Provident was a global compromise and settlement of all claims and counterclaims for the generic sum of \$75,000.00 and the exchange of reciprocal general releases. As the trial court and Third District noted, no portion of the settlement represented, or purported to represent, the payment of disability income benefits. Court's decision in Bank of Greenwood v. Rawls, 117 Fla. 381, 158 So. 173 (1934), is clearly distinguishable on its facts as there it was undisputed that the garnished res "was an agreed payment for total disability benefits. . . . " 158 So. at 174. There is no conflict with Bank of Greenwood, and jurisdiction does not lie.

The district court also did not misapply the settled and controlling rule of law applied in <u>J. Allen, Inc. v. Castle Floor Covering, Inc.</u>, 543 So. 2d 249 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989). There, as here, a compromise and settlement agreement extinguished the parties' respective rights and obligations under a prior contract. In the instant case, Zuckerman and Provident conclusively settled and extinguished their respective claims on global terms and without reservation or allocation for the generic sum of \$75,000.00. Hofrichter garnished that

substituted, and legally separate and distinct obligation of indebtedness pursuant to a settlement, not the subject disability policy or any purported benefits thereunder to which Zuckerman now claims to have been entitled. The district court correctly applied <u>J. Allen</u>, no conflict exists, and jurisdiction was improvidently granted.

Having prevailed in the argument that his attorneys had a valid charging lien superior to Hofrichter's claim in garnishment, and having thereby reduced the res at issue by almost half, Zuckerman is judicially estopped from now arguing that the res is statutorily exempt. If it were, no charging lien could attach.

This Court should reconsider the exercise of its jurisdiction over this cause or, alternatively, the order appealed should be affirmed in all respects.

# ARGUMENT

# JURISDICTION WAS IMPROVIDENTLY GRANTED.

To manufacture conflict and entice discretionary review, Zuckerman strayed far beyond the Third District's opinion and, as this Court can now discern, beyond the record proper and realm of actual fact. No disability income benefits were due or payable; Provident was indebted to Zuckerman pursuant to a compromise and settlement which extinguished any purported rights Zuckerman had under the subject insurance policy. There is no express and direct conflict on the same question of law to invoke this Court's jurisdiction.

Α.

# There Was No Evidence That Statutory Disability Income Benefits Were Due or Payable.

As the record proper clearly reflects, no statutory disability income benefits were determined to be due. No such benefits were paid in connection with the settlement. The settlement was a global settlement--requiring the exchange of reciprocal general releases--of sundry claims for disability benefits, statutory insurer bad faith, interest and attorney's fees, and competing counterclaims for fraud, unjust enrichment, indemnity and other relief. As the trial court noted, there wasn't a scintilla of evidence that any portion of the generic settlement represented (or even contemplated) payment of disability income benefits. And, as the Third District observed, Provident simply "bought its

peace", as cost conscious litigants often do, and compromised its claims for restitution, damages, and to rescind the policy.

Zuckerman asks this Court to presume, without any record support, that he was owed contractual disability income benefits. But Zuckerman ignores Provident's contention that he had <u>fraudulently procured</u> the subject policy in the first instance, by lying about his <u>age</u> and his <u>alleged disability</u>. Had there been no fraud, there would have been no policy. Just as Zuckerman chose to <u>forego</u> a judicial determination of his alleged entitlement to disability income benefits, Provident compromised its action for rescission, restitution, and damages.

For the same reason, Zuckerman is incorrect in his suggestion that the Third District narrowly construed Section 222.18, Fla. Stats. Indeed, the court did not construe this exemption statute at all. There was nothing in the record to support Zuckerman's contention that Provident was indebted to him for disability benefits by agreement, by operation of law, or otherwise, and he therefore could not meet his burden to demonstrate error. The court correctly refused Zuckerman's invitation to put the proverbial cart before the horse since there must be a "disability income benefit" due and payable before a debtor can attempt to invoke, and the court will apply, the statutory exemption.

On appeal to this Court, Zuckerman now engages in tortured statutory construction to obtain a reversal. He argues that the

words "of whatever form" in Section 222.18 qualify the words "Disability income benefits" rather than the words "any policy or contract of life, health, accident or other insurance."

Tellingly, Zuckerman offers no support for his construction.

Moreover, same is negated by the last antecedent doctrine of statutory construction which requires that "relative and qualifying words, phrases, and clauses are to be applied to the words or phrase immediately preceding, and are not to be construed as extending to or including others more remote."

Kirksey v. State, 433 So. 2d 1236, 1241 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983);

Rich Electronics v. Southern Bell Telephone & Telegraph Company,
523 So. 2d 670, 672 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988).

As the facts are not as Zuckerman relates them, this Court's decision in Bank of Greenwood v. Rawls, 117 Fla. 381, 158 So. 173 (1934), is easily distinguished and the illusion of conflict disappears. In Bank of Greenwood, it was undisputed that the garnished res "was an agreed payment for total disability benefits. . . ." 158 So. at 174. The payment did not emanate from a globally settled lawsuit involving multiple competing claims and counterclaims including a claim that the subject insurance policy was void ab initio. Unlike Bank of Greenwood, there was no evidence here that exempt disability income benefits were due and payable. Bank of Greenwood is clearly distinguishable on its facts and conflict jurisdiction

does not lie. <u>Department of Revenue v. Johnston</u>, 442 So. 2d 950 (Fla. 1983).

В.

Zuckerman's Compromise and Settlement Agreement With Provident Extinguished Any Claims Zuckerman Had Under the Subject Disability Insurance Policy.

It is well settled that:

A valid compromise and settlement agreement operates as a merger of, and as a bar to, the right to recover on the claim described therein from the party with whom the settlement was reached. In effect, the compromise agreement is substituted for the pre-existing claim, so that the liabilities of the parties are measured by the terms of the agreement.

10 Fla. Jur. 2d, <u>Compromise</u>, <u>Accord</u>, <u>and Release</u>, Section 10.

Accord, National Surety Co. v. Willys-Overland, Inc., 103
Fla. 738, 138 So. 24, 26 (Fla. 1931) ("It is also well settled that the parties and those who claim under them with notice can not go behind a compromise made in good faith as a settlement of prior disputes."); Munilla v. Perez-Cobo, 335 So. 2d 584 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976), cert. den., 344 So. 2d 325 (Fla. 1977); McMannis v. Davlin, 222 So. 2d 492 (Fla. 2d DCA 1969), cert. disch., 231 So. 2d 194 (Fla. 1969); Aktieselskabet Dampskibssels-Kabet Svendborg v. U.S., 130 F. Supp. 363, 367 (U.S. Ct. Cl. 1955), cert. den., 350 U.S. 978 (1956) ("Since the contract was entered into in settlement of the controversy and substituted new obligations for the old, we think it was agreed upon in satisfaction of the liability to pay just compensation, and that that liability was extinguished.").

In the opinion at bar, the Third District cited three precedents which applied this firmly established rule of law. In J. Allen, Inc. v. Castle Floor Covering, Inc., 543 So. 2d 249 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989), as in the other cases cited by the Third District, the court held, inter alia, that a compromise and settlement agreement memorialized in addenda to the parties' contract extinguished the parties' rights and obligations under the original contract: "By entering into the addenda, any rights and duties the parties had at that moment were merged into their settlement agreement, unless stated otherwise." 543 So. 2d at 251. Precisely the same factual scenario was presented in the instant case, as Zuckerman and Provident conclusively settled and extinguished their respective claims on global terms and without allocation or reservation for the generic sum of \$75,000.00.

Contrary to his suggestion, Zuckerman was not forced to settle his claims and left without choice. The settlement correspondence of counsel (which agreement was also executed by Zuckerman) belies such assertion by Zuckerman, an educated and seasoned litigation attorney. (See A. 22-3) If anything, as the Third District noted, it was Provident whose back was against the wall because of Zuckerman's litigiousness and who "bought its peace." The district court did not misapply the settled and controlling rule of law applied in <u>J. Allen</u>.

As the foregoing authorities demonstrate, courts will not go behind settlements and resurrect rights and obligations which the parties have themselves compromised and extinguished. Saucer v. Efstathion, 34 So. 2d 435 (Fla. 1948), cited by Zuckerman, does not hold to the contrary. In Saucer, this Court simply noted that judgments and decrees (not settlements) must be construed with reference to the subject matter before the court pronouncing them. This Court held that the plaintiff did not demonstrate error in a chancellor's determination that plaintiff was entitled to rents only for a period commencing after entry of the chancellor's prior decree, despite the fact that the prior decree, since affirmed by this Court on appeal, provided that plaintiff was generally entitled to an accounting from an earlier date.

Zuckerman's reliance upon this Court's decision in <u>In Re McCollam</u>, 612 So. 2d 572 (Fla. 1993), is also misplaced. In <u>McCollam</u>, the seized asset was an annuity structured for the benefit of the debtor as part of a settlement of her father's estate's wrongful death claim. Thus, a non-exempt asset, a tort chose in action, was converted via a settlement into an exempt asset, an annuity.

In the instant case, the very converse is true. A potentially exempt asset, a disability insurance policy (if valid) and any benefits flowing therefrom (if due) were extinguished and compromised for a non-exempt asset, a

separately enforceable contract for settlement. It is that substituted, and legally separate and distinct obligation of indebtedness which was garnished, not the disputed benefits to which Zuckerman claims to have been entitled. McCollam is inapplicable here.

Zuckerman's parting public policy argument that the Third District's decision will discourage settlement of disputes without litigation does not ring true. It is Zuckerman who asks this Court (as he did the district court and trial court before it) to ignore his settlement with Provident and reopen their underlying litigation to determine his entitlement to disability income benefits under the policy. As Zuckerman points out, however, "settlements are highly favored and will be enforced whenever possible." Robbie v. City of Miami, 469 So. 2d 1384, 1385 (Fla. 1985).

C.

# <u>Zuckerman is Judicially Estopped From Asserting The Exemption</u>.

Having prevailed in his argument that his attorneys had a charging lien superior to Hofrichter's claim in garnishment and having thereby reduced the res at issue by almost half, <u>See Hofrichter & Quiat, P.A. v. Brumer, Cohen, et al.</u>, 624 So. 2d 415 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993), Zuckerman is precluded from now arguing that the garnished res is statutorily exempt. If the settlement proceeds were exempt, no charging lien could attach. <u>See Zimmerman v. Livnat</u>, 507 So. 2d 1205 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987)

(recognizing limitation upon charging lien against entitlement to alimony); Brake v. Sanchez-Lopez, 405 So. 2d 1071 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984) (holding attorney's charging lien unenforceable against child support payments); King v. Pons, 77 Fla. 383, 81 So. 519 (Fla. 1919) (holding charging lien inconsistent with and hence prohibited by federal statute). Zuckerman is judicially estopped from now advancing the statutory exemption. See generally 22 Fla. Jur. 2d, Estoppel & Waiver at 48-53, and cases collected therein.

## CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, and upon the authorities cited, Respondents Hofrichter respectfully urge this Court to reconsider the exercise of its jurisdiction over this cause or, alternatively, the order under review should be affirmed in all respects.